Utah State University DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate Studies

5-1970

Development of a Whey-Based Lactic Culture Medium Capable of Bacteriophage Inhibition

Chao Tung Cheng Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd

Part of the Food Microbiology Commons

Recommended Citation

Cheng, Chao Tung, "Development of a Whey-Based Lactic Culture Medium Capable of Bacteriophage Inhibition" (1970). *All Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 5107. https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/5107

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



DEVELOPMENT OF A WHEY-BASED LACTIC CULTURE MEDIUM

CAPABLE OF BACTERIOPHAGE INHIBITION

by

Chao Tung Cheng

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Food Science and Industries

UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY • Logan, Utah

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Sincere appreciation is expressed to Dr. G. H. Richardson, my major professor, for his valuable advice and constructive criticism in the preparation of this thesis.

Appreciation is also expressed to Dr. C. A. Ernstrom, Dr. L. W. Jones, and Dr. D. R. Morgan, members of my graduate committee, for their review of this thesis.

My appreciation is also extended to my parents and my parents-in-law, for their confidence and unlimited encouragement throughout my program of study.

Finally, gratitude is expressed to my wife, Mei, a very good typist, without whose assistance, understanding and typing this thesis could not have been completed.

Chao T. Cheng

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	4
Milk for starter media	4
	5
The importance of phages to the dairy industry	6
Physiological and chemical properties of phage	7
Detection of phage	8
Phages and other inhibitors	9
General approaches to eliminate phage infection	9
Calcium ion requirement for phage proliferation	10
Calcium free medium	11
Phosphate-treated medium	11
Effect of stimulatory substances on starter	12
culture growth in milk	13
Phosphated medium with stimulatory agents	14
PIM	14
Whey for preparing starters	11
EXPERIMENTAL METHODS	16
Lactic streptococci cultures and homologous phage filtrates	16
Preparation of phosphate-treated whey medium	
and other media used for comparison	17
Lactic acid production test	17
Starter activity test	18
Bacteria enumeration	19
Method of Cheddar cheese manufacture	19
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	20
Determination of phage titer	20
Comparison of media for starter growth	21
and phage inhibition	21
Effect of various media on lactic starters for	05
Cheddar and Cottage cheese making	25
Bacterial populations in various media	27
PWM for Cheddar cheese manufacture	27

Page

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

													Page
Cost of starter media	0 0	e	0 0			0		0		•		ø	31
Effect of variation of yeast concentration on starter activity	0 0		• •		0	•		٥	•	•	٥		36
CONCLUSIONS	s e	9		•	0	•		•	0	0	•		37
BIBLIOGRAPHY		a	• •		0		0	•			•		38

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Phage titers estimated with the dilution end point method in sterile litmus milk	20
2.	Comparison of starter activity and phage inhibition in various media including PIM (16 hr incubation at 29 C)	22
3.	Comparison of starter activity and phage inhibition in various media PIM-1 (16 hr incubation at 29 C)	23
4.	Activity test of starters (titrated after 3.5 hr incuba t ion 37.7 C)	26
5.	Population achieved by lactic streptococci in various media following 18 hr incubation at 21 C	28
6.	Record of manufacture of Cheddar cheese	29
7.	Composition and grading of finished products	30
8.	Price of PWM ingredients in January, 1970	32
9.	The cost of ingredients of the PWM	32
10.	Net cost for three culture media considering cheese yield increases	35

ABSTRACT

Development of a Whey-based Lactic Culture Medium

Capable of Bacteriophage Inhibition

by

Chao Tung Cheng, Master of Science

Utah State University, 1970

Major Professor: Dr. Gary H. Richardson Department: Food Science and Industries

A whey product has been formulated for use as a lactic starter medium. Phosphate-treated whey medium (PWM) has been shown to support growth of lactic cultures and prevent phage proliferation. Comparisons were made of a commercial phage inhibitory medium (PIM), reconstituted non-fat dry milk (NDM) and PWM. PWM inhibited all phages tested and stimulated starter growth. PWM was not as stimulating as PIM but was better than NDM. Good Cheddar cheese has been made using PWM. PWM is more economical than PIM but NDM is the most economical one if cheese yield is considered.

(49 pages)

INTRODUCTION

It has been said with considerable truth the lactic starter culture is the heart of cheese making. No matter how perfect all other aspects may be, a bad starter is almost certain to give a poor quality cheese. A good starter may enable other defects, caused by a contaminated milk, to be overcome. Lactic starters which do not produce acid uniformly every day present an important problem to the dairy industry.

The media commonly used to prepare starter in cheese factories today include:

- (a) Carefully selected whole or skimmilk from the factory.
- (b) Reconstituted non-fat dry milk (NDM), pretested for ability to support lactic culture growth.
- (c) Phosphate treated NDM media.
- (d) Whey.

The latter is used only to a limited degree and primarily in Italian and Swiss cheese factories (17, 69),

The predominant media which have been used in dairy industry include reconstituted NDM and phosphate treated NDM. These have the following advantages:

(a) They are pretested and therefore free from inhibitory substances.

- (b) They provide curd formation upon acidification which results in a visual indicator of culture quality.
- (c) They closely resemble cheese milk and can increase product yield.
- (d) The phosphate treated NDM inhibits bacteriophage (phage) proliferation.

The use of whey has been de-emphasized or completely forgotten for these reasons:

- (a) Lack of curd formation thus requiring that other tests be employed to measure the culture quality.
- (b) Presence of culture by-products and other chemical inhibitors.
- (c) Lower activity of culture in this substrate unless modified.
- (d) Possible presence of phage and undesirable contaminants.
- (e) Lack of control by those preparing cultures.

However, whey is produced at the rate of more than 19 billion pounds annually (54) of which approximately 75-80 percent is disposed of as waste (Ernstrom).¹ The discarded whey represents a large reservoir of protein, sugar and minerals. Conversion of this waste into utilizable products would help relieve many plants and municipalities of a serious waste disposal problem (61, 62). If whey could be used as a bulk culture medium it would eliminate the need for purchase of more expensive culture nutrients and provide a practical outlet for whey solids.

¹C. A. Ernstrom, Head of the Department of Food Science and Industries, Utah State University, Logan, Utah. Personal communication, Fall, 1969.

The purpose of this research has been to develop an economical wheybased medium which would encourage the growth of lactic cultures and prevent phage proliferation.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

4

Milk for starter media

÷

Sellars (50) estimated that over 215 million pounds of milk were used in the U.S.A. for the production of lactic starter in 1965. With the increase in cheese production this figure was probably 223 million pounds in 1968.

Whole and skimmilk are standard media for starter propagation. These media supply essential vitamins and nitrogenous substances for many lactic acid bacteria (48). Disadvantages of using these media arise when they:

- (a) Vary in composition (i.e., solids not-fat, peptone and peptide fractions) (2,50,52).
- (b) Allow phage attack (3, 4, 12, 13).
- (c) Contain antibiotics or other inhibitors (5, 20, 48).

Spray dried NDM is also reconstituted for the preparation of starter. The advantages of this product include economy, uniformity of composition and near-absence of inhibitory substances and undesirable organisms (17). The rate of acid formation and flavor development is comparable between normal skim milk and properly reconstituted NDM (50). But some reports indicate that reconstituted NDM gives higher and more consistent culture activity than pasteurized skim or whole milk (48). This medium also supports phage attack.

The importance of phages to the dairy industry

Phage infection of lactic starters has been the most important cause of insufficient acid production during controlled dairy fermentations (29, 60). In addition to disruption of carefully timed schedules in the cheese plants which cause "slow" or "dead vats," production of insufficient lactic acid may lead to undesirable fermentations causing abnormal fruity, rancid and putrid flavors and gas formation. A slow vat may also allow staphylococcal growth and toxin formation (18, 57).

Whey is the most important source of phages. Whey contact with equipment and whey mists make phage particles ubiquitous. It is inevitable that phage contaminates cheese operations (5, 59). Phage can survive for over ten years in soil and for more than two years on cheese shelves (17). The contamination of starters by wind-borne droplets is, therefore, possible not only from whey in the factory but from air currents near the factory.

Electron micrographs of a phage active against <u>Streptococcus lactis</u> have been prepared (44). The phage particles are sperm-shaped, 220-230 mµ long, with a head diameter of 70 mµ and a tail that is 20-30 mµ wide and 150-160 mµ long (8, 12, 18, 44). Nine strains of micrographed phage particles were so nearly alike, they could not be differentiated.

Micrographs of phages associated with cells indicated orientation with the tail toward the bacterial cell. A possible sequence for phage lysis of <u>S</u>. <u>lactic</u> cells was described by Parmelee et al. (44). Phage races usually show a wider diversity of reaction of temperature conditions than do the homologous organisms. The optimum growth temperature for <u>S. cremoris</u> is near 30 C. These organisms are usually inhibited at 37 C. Some phage strains developed as well at 22 C as at 30 C. Most phage strains developed more rapidly at 30 C than 22 C. Some developed more readily at 37 C than at lower temperatures and others were completely inhibited at 37 C (31).

Physiological and chemical properties of phage

Lysis of bacteria can be controlled by medium acidity. Lysis was most rapid at pH 6.5 to 7.0, somewhat slower at pH 6.0 and 8.0 and almost completely inhibited below pH 5.0 (18, 43).

Phages are harder to inactivate with chemical and physical agents than their host cells. They can survive ordinary pasteurization but are destroyed during 70 to 75 C for 30 min at pH 6.0 (59). It is thus possible to destroy phage in whey by heat, but phage contaminated surfaces may form on vats, floors and walls that are subject to splashing (32). (Ethylene) glycol, aerosols of calcium hypochlorite, other hypochlorite germicides, and quaternary ammonium compounds have been used to destroy phage (7, 18, 32). Hypochlorite was the most effective on plant equipment, utensils, and building surfaces. One gram of available chlorine per 1,000 ft³ of air space has been recommended for the inactivation of air-borne phage (18).

Ultraviolet irradiation of <u>S</u>. <u>lactis</u> and <u>S</u>. <u>cremoris</u> phages indicated that destruction may occur but irradiation is impractical in dairy plants (24).

Phages are very highly strain specific but strains of lactic organisms vary in their resistance. The nascent phenomenon apparently occurs with lactic cultures (3, 12). When a resistant strain and a sensitive strain become infected with a specific phage, both strains may be inhibited or lysed.

The action of phages on lactic streptococci may vary widely and is not in all cases an all or nothing phenomenon. There are five possibilities of phage activity spectrum-ranging from no action through the nascent effect, host-controlled variation, full action and host range mutation (12).

Detection of phage

It is wise to detect phage existence periodically in the plant before it develops into a severe infestation. Simple tests may be employed in the plant to provide presumptive evidence of phage presence.

A few drops of fresh starter may be added to 10 ml of sterile skim milk in a tube. If the milk fails to coagulate in 24 hr, the possibility of phage in the starter exists. If a second tube of milk is inoculated in the same manner and incubated at 86 to 98.6 F, microscopic examinations of the contents can be made at intervals over a period of about 8 hr. If the organisms begin to multiply and then lysis is noted, this is good evidence that phage has attacked and destroyed the bacteria. If phage or inhibitory substance is suspected in cheese manufacture, Elliker (18) described an easy method to detect or distinguish them. Triplicate tubes or small flasks containing sterile skim milk may be used. The first and second containers are inoculated with 2 or 3 drops of whey from a suspected vat.

The third one serves as a control. After the second container is heated to boiling for five minutes to inactivate phage and cooled, all three may be inoculated with 0.5 percent of fresh starter and incubated at 86 F for 6 hr. The titratable acidity is then determined. If starter in both the first and second containers are inhibited, it is probably a heat stable antibiotic such as penicillin, nisin or diplococcin. If the only starter inhibited is in first container, it is probably phage or a heat labile antibiotic. Other assays are possible (27) but are not practical for most cheese plant operations.

Phages and other inhibitors

The relative importance of phage, inhibitory substances and sanitizing agents as causes of cheese culture failure has been studied by Moseley and Winslow (42). They examined samples of milk, lactic cultures and whey obtained from 91 cheese factories in 20 states. The samples were obtained at the time of slow acid development during cheese manufacture. Their study involved 101 cases of culture failure. They also analyzed samples taken from 23 vats in 20 cheese factories that were not experiencing difficulty with slow acid development. Phages were found in 93 percent of the culture failures and 74 percent of the non-failures. Inhibitory substances in cheese milk caused 27 percent of the failures and 10 percent of the non-failures (both phage and inhibitory substances caused some failures). Sanitizing agents were relatively unimportant.

General approaches to eliminate phage infection

Many recommendations have been made to limit phage entrance into cultures and to decrease its activity (6, 12, 18). These include culture selection, effective sanitation program, improved culture propagation facilities, culture rotation, culture combination and preparation and propagation of cultures in a relatively phage-free area. Where facilities are available, tests may be run on whey or other products to ascertain if phage is accumulating against a certain strain. These methods have been helpful in decreasing culture failures but have not entirely eliminated the phage problem. Recent researchers have developed a medium that supports growth of lactic cultures, but does not permit phage development. "Marstar"¹ and "Culture Mate"² are commercial examples of these products (29, 50). It has been estimated that over 3 million dollars worth of "Marstar" was marketed in 1966 (Richardson).³

Calcium ion requirement for phage proliferation

Little is known of the effect of media constituents upon phage proliferation. The requirements may be different than those of the host cells. Cherry and Watson (8, 9) in 1949 reported that tryptone, calcium and many other electrolytes promoted lysis of <u>S</u>. <u>lactis</u> cells by phage. Collins et al. (14) found that calcium, amino acids

¹Trademark of Marschall Dairy Laboratory, Inc., Madison, Wisconsin.

²Trademark of Galloway-West Co., Fond du Lac, Wisconsin.

³G. H. Richardson, Professor of Food Science and Industries, Utah State University, Logan, Utah. Personal communication, 1966.

and vitamins were necessary for the multiplication of many phages active against strains of lactic streptococci. They suggested a medium for carrying lactic streptococci using chemically defined nutrients free of calcium. Complex nutrients low in calcium content and supplemented with phosphate or other calcium-binding ion were also suggested (14). Shew reported in 1949 that lactic streptococci phage required calcium for maximum development (51). Potter and Nelson (45, 46) in 1952 prepared a calcium deficient, partially chemically defined medium in which proliferation of six phage strains was prevented unless soluble calcium was added.

The function of calcium ion in phage multiplication is not clear. Adams (1) in 1959 reported that calcium seemed to be required for some stage of the infectious process subsequent to ad**s**orption of virus to the host cell. Potter and Nelson (45) found that the stimulatory effect of calcium could not be explained by its effect upon adsorption. Under the experimental conditions employed, 85, 89, and 75 percent of the particles of three phage strains studied were absorbed during a 10 min period in the absence of calcium but no phage proliferation occurred. Slightly greater adsorption occurred when calcium ion was present, but the effect on proliferation was out of proportion to the effect upon adsorption. Other investigators have ascribed the effects of calcium removal to a reduced activity of certain enzymes that may be necessary for phage multiplication (14).

Calcium free medium

The first commerical phage resistant medium (PRM) was developed by Reiter in England (6, 12). Calcium was removed by ion exchange and

replaced by a nonessential ion. Unfortunately, essential elements were apparently also removed because many cultures did not grow well in PRM (6, 12).

Phosphate-treated medium

U.S.D.A. workers (25, 26) reported the effects of various phosphate salts on binding calcium and preventing phage proliferation in milk cultures. The type and concentration of phosphate, the pH, and heat-treatment markedly affected phage inhibition and the free calcium content of milk. Orthophosphates produced the greatest degree of phage inhibition. Most of the phage types tested were suppressed by two percent orthophosphate salts but the most resistant types required three percent. Heating the milk after phosphate addition was essential to bind most of the free calcium. The free calcium content of the treated milk ranged from 10 to 30 ppm. Inhibition became more pronounced as the phosphated milk was adjusted from pH 6.4 to 7.0.

The best combination for phage inhibition, minimum milk precipitation and economy was obtained when milk was heated with 1.7 percent orthophosphate salt at pH 6.6; followed by the addition of 0.3 percent pyrophosphate. Thirteen different lactic strains, which were grossly contaminated with their respective phage, were freed of phage within three to four subcultures in phosphated milk. In most instances, the activity of the cultures in phosphated milk was as great as or greater than the controls.

Kadis and Babel (34) added mixtures of phosphates to skim milk or reconstituted skim milk. The use of 36 g KH_2PO_4 plus 24 g Na_2HPO_4 per

100 ml milk yielded a medium which prevented phage development in three out of nine starter cultures and reduced the rate of phage proliferation in four of the remaining six cultures. Coagulation of milk after sterilization was encountered with the following mixtures:

(a) $30 \text{ g KH}_2\text{PO}_4$ plus $30 \text{ g Na}_2\text{HPO}_4$ in 100 ml.

(b) 20 g KH_2PO_4 plus 40 g Na_2HPO_4 in 100 ml.

Addition to 100 ml milk of (a) 40 g K_2HPO_4 plus 20 g NaH_2PO_4 or (b) 48 g K_2HPO_4 plus 12 g Na_2HPO_4 proved inhibitory to many of the lactic starter cultures tested. Thus simple addition of phosphate to milk was inadequate to produce a suitable medium that would inhibit phage and still permit satisfactory bacterial growth.

Effect of stimulatory substances on starter culture growth in milk

Dahiya and Speck (16) have found that milk is deficient in nucleic acid derivatives for optimum growth of lactic streptococci. Growth can be accelerated through supplementation of milk by enzymatic hydrolysates or proteins (2, 22, 52) and by crude extracts of various plant and animal tissues (e.g., liver fractions, yeast extract, peptone, pancreas extracts and corn steep liquor, etc) (22, 35, 53).

Speck et al. (53) further reported that liver fractions, yeast extract and pancreas extract all contained multiple stimulants for most cultures of lactic streptococci. Four factors were found in all three extracts, a fifth factor was present in liver and yeast extracts but not in pancreas extract. Two of the factors in pancreas extract have been identified as peptides, presumably the other factors are also peptides. The latter react with ninhydrin and activity is lost upon acid hydroplysis. Later, Koburger et al. (36) identified adenine, hypoxanthine and inosine as active components in pancreas extract that contributed to growthpromoting properties.

Phosphated medium with stimulatory agents

Simple phosphated medium as developed by Hargrove et al. (26) was not a satisfactory medium for the industry. Stimulatory substances were needed for optimum growth of starter cultures (16, 22) and phosphates caused milk protein precipitation during preparation (34). Several mono- and dibasic orthophosphate salts, dry-blended with yeast extract and NDM, were evaluated by Zottola and Marth (63). As a result of their study, three combinations were found that inhibited most of the phages tested:

- (a) A 3:2 mixture of NDM and electro-dialyzed whey (EDW) with a two percent orthophosphate concentration (reconstituted basis) consisting of a 1:1 ratio of Na_2HPO_4 and KH_2PO_4 .
- (b) A 4:1 mixture of NDM and EDW with a two percent orthophosphate concentration (reconstituted basis) consisting of a 1:1 ratio of Na_2HPO_4 and $NH_4H_2PO_4$.
- (c) A 4:1 mixture of NDM and EDW with a two percent orthophosphate concentration (reconstituted basis) consisting of a 1:1 ratio of $NH_4H_2PO_4$ and $(NH_4)_2HPO_4$.

The dairy ingredients were reconstituted to 9–10 percent in each medium. All of the mixtures contained 0.32 percent yeast extract (reconstituted basis).

The first two formulae inhibited five of six phages examined, whereas, the third effectively inhibited all six. None of the three mixtures was inhibitory to the host lactic streptococci.

PIM

Recently, a new phage inhibitory medium (PIM) has become available This medium, called "Marstar" or "Culture Mate" (see page 9, footnotes 1 and 2 of this thesis), is a scientifically blended combination of a high grade NDM, de-mineralized whey powder, certain phosphate salts, extracts and growth stimulants (dried pancreas extract) (38).

The ability of PIM to minimize phage development in single or mixed strains lactic starter cultures and to dilute out phage particles from infected cultures has been confirmed (29). Single strains of <u>S. lactis</u>, <u>S.</u> <u>cremoris</u> and <u>S. diacetylactis</u> grew well in PIM though there was variation between strains.

Whey for preparing starters

Whey contains about 6.5 to 7.0 percent solids (20, 33) following removal of the casein, fat and some lactose and minerals from milk. This substrate has been used traditionally for preparing starters in Italian and Swiss cheese plants. Excellent quality cheese can be produced if whey starters are properly prepared and maintained in good consition (49). Reports of autoinhibition of lactic streptococci (23) and concern over strain domination and antibiotic production (11) have caused concern over the use of spent whey for culture propagation. However recent workers (15) have successfully used it for preparing cell concentrates.

EDW accounted for 40 percent of the milk solids in the media formulated by Zottola and Marth. All three combinations contained EDW (63). PIM apparently also contains a certain amount of EDW (38).

EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

Lactic streptococci cultures and homologous phage filtrates

Several strains of lactic streptococci were obtained along with their homogous phage races from D.P.L. Culture Service, 1750 Folsom St., San Francisco 94103. These were strains SK-11, KH, R-1, C_2 , and C_6 . The phage for strain C_6 was found to be very weak, therefore, only four strains were studied extensively.

The lactic streptococci were maintained in 10 ml of 10 percent sterilized (121 C for 15 min) reconstituted NDM. They were transferred weekly using one percent inoculum and incubated for 16 hr at 21 to 22 C.

Phage lysates were prepared as follows: 50 ml of sterilized and cooled Elliker lactic broth (19) supplemented with one percent sterile 1 M C_aCl_2 (1, 9) were inoculated with 1 percent culture and incubated at 30 C for 2 to 3 hr until the broth was slightly turbid indicating an early log phase of culture development (27). The cultured broth was infected by one percent of homologous phage filtrate. The phage infected broth was incubated overnight at room temperature (25 C). In most cases, the lysates were clear when compared to a non-infected control culture. The phage hysates were centrifuged for 15 min and filter-sterilized sequentially through two membrance filters (28, 63) with average pore diameters of 45 and 22 mu (Millipore Filter Corp., Bedford, Mass.). This treatment removed bacterial cells and other particles. The resulting phage filtrates were maintained at 2 to 4 C until used (10, 63). The phage titer was estimated by a dilution end point method in sterile litmus milk (1, 21).

Preparation of phosphate-treated whey medium and other media used for comparison

Fresh whey was obtained from commerical Cheddar cheese factories. Phosphate-treated whey medium (PWM) was prepared by adding and dissolving the following chemical agents as reported by Zottola and Marth (63): 0.32 percent yeast extract, (Adramine 99 or Yes,)³ one percent $NH_4H_2PO_4$, one percent Na_2HPO_4 (all on a reconstituted basis). The medium was transferred using a 10 ml pipette into sterilized test tubes. The contents and test tubes were heattreated for 45 mins in an 88 to 90 C hot water bath (63). A thermometer was inserted into a dummy tube to indicate the applied temperature. After heat-treatment, the tubes were immediately cooled to 29 or 21 C and inoculated (26, 63).

"Marstar," a popular commerical phage inhibitory medium (PIM), was prepared according to the manufacturer's directions (38) and in the same manner as PWM. Reconstituted 10 percent NDM and unmodified whey were sterilized in like manner.

Lactic acid production test

The lactic culture activity test was conducted as follows: The four media (whey, PWM, PIM, and NDM) were prepared and evaluated simultaneously.

³Trade name of Yeast Products Inc., Paterson, New Jersey.

Each medium was prepared in a set of nine tubes containing 10 ml, one was used as an uninoculated control and the others were divided into four pairs. The first of each pair was inoculated with lactic streptococci only and the second was inoculated with culture plus homologous phage filtrate. A one percent inoculum was used for both culture and phage filtrate. All tubes were incubated at 29 C for 16 hr (63). After incubation the titratable acidity (TA) of all sets and controls were determined, using the Milk Industry Foundation procedure (41).

Starter activity test

Ability to produce acid during 16 hr incubation did not indicate potential value in the cheese vat. Therefore the activity of starter cultures under conditions stimulating those in the cheese vat was determined using the method of Horrall and Elliker (30).

High-grade spray-dried NDM was reconstituted at the rate of 10 g per 90 ml of distilled water. It was sterilized in flasks at 121 C, for 10 min. Ten milliliters were pipetted into sterile screwcapped test tubes and adjusted to 37.7 C in a water bath. Each tube was incoulated with 0.3 ml of the starter culture to be tested and incubated at 37.7 C for 3.5 hr. At the end of incubation, the entire contents of the tube, together with 5 ml of distilled water used to rinse the tube, were titrated with 0.1 N NaOH to a faint pink color, using phenolphthalein indicator. The results were recorded as percent lactic acid.

Bacteria enumeration

The number of viable bacteria present in the starter were estimated by determining the Standard Plate Count (55). Elliker lactic medium was used to enhance growth (19).

Method of Cheddar cheese manufacture

Cheddar cheese was manufactured in the USU Dairy Products Lab. using conventional procedures suggested by Price and Calbert (47) except that two percent starter was added and the ripening period was eliminated.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Determination of phage titer

Phage was titered using the dilution end point method in sterile litmus milk. The titer of phage present in the original filtrate was calculated after 16 hr incubation period at 30 C. The growth condition was also observed after 24 hr incubation. The highest dilution inhibiting the litmus milk culture (demonstrated by lack of acid coagulation and reduction) provided an estimate of phage population. Data in Table 1 summarizes phage titers after 16 and 24 hr incubation at 30 C. The titer was lower after 24 hr indicating that resistant cells were active. Phage c_6 was deleted from subsequent study because of inactivity.

		Titer/ml
Phage races	I ^a	Пp
sk-11	107	10 ⁵
kh	107	10 ⁶
r-1	10^{7}	10 ⁶
^c 2	10 ¹⁰	10 ⁸
° ₆	10^{2}	0

Table 1. Phage titers estimated with the dilution end point method in sterilelitmus milk. (Average of three replicates.)

^aCalculated after 16 hr incubation at 30 C.

^bCalculated after 24 hr incubation at 30 C.

Comparison of media for starter growth and phage inhibition

The significance of phosphate treatment and yeast addition to whey was determined. Four media were compared for their effectiveness in prev enting phage proliferation and also their effect on the growth stimulation of lactic streptococci. The acidity (expressed as percent lactic acid) that developed after a 16 hr incubation period at 29 C was used as the criterion of culture activity and phage proliferation (63). These comparisons are presented in Table 2 and Table 3. It is assumed that the greater the developed acidity, the more active the culture and the less active the phage. The developed acidity was obtained by substracting the TA of the uninoculated control from the TA of the inoculated or phage-infected samples. The incubation temperature used in the test was chosen to obtain maximum phage activity and the incubation time used was required for maximum acid production in phosphate-treated milks (63).

PWM was definitely more effective in preventing phage proliferation than whey and had more stimulatory effect upon lactic culture activity. Thus phosphate treatment and yeast addition were beneficial. Phage activity was inhibited in both PWM and PIM. Conversely, in the conventional media, bacterial acid production was seriously retarded with all bacterial strains.

These results support the findings of Zottola and Marth (63) and Hargrove et al. (26) who reported that phosphate treatment would inhibit phage proliferation. I confirmed that PWM, PIM and reconstituted NDM

						lity in pe	ercent			
		I	a	I	ıp	II	IC	IV ^d		
Culture	Trial	Phage free	Phage added	Phage free	Phage added	Phage free	Phage added	Phage free	Phage added	
SK-11	1	. 20	. 07	. 57	. 54	. 63	. 65	.71	.04	
	2	. 24	. 06	.60	.65	.64	. 69	.74	.16	
	3	.19	. 08	. 66	.65	. 67	. 69	. 69	.14	
	4	.16	.04	. 58	.58	. 60	. 56	. 66	.11	
	Ave.	.198	.063	.603	.605	.635	.648	.700	.113	
КН	1	. 25	. 16	. 68	.69	. 78	. 79	. 66	. 29	
2	2	.25	. 12	.72	.65	.83	.83	.71	.22	
	3	.24	.14	.74	.71	.80	.80	. 62	. 27	
	4	. 20	. 08	. 68	.66	.85	. 79	.64	.11	
	Ave.	. 235	. 125	.705	.678	.815	.803	.658	. 223	
R-1	1	. 25	. 18	. 87	. 87	.95	.98	.75	.04	
	2	.24	. 16	.74	.74	.90	. 85	.73	.13	
	3	.24	. 11	.81	.81	.94	.95	.78	. 24	
	4	.22	. 07	.75	.76	. 89	. 67	. 67	. 16	
	Ave.	. 238	.130	.793	.795	.920	.863	.733	.143	
C ₂	1	. 28	.03	. 83	.83	. 98	.95	.75	.02	
-	2	.23	.01	.80	.80	. 93	.90	.73	.10	
	3	. 26	. 08	.84	.82	.94	.98	.78	. 06	
	4	. 24	.05	. 76	.75	1.00	.02	1.72	.02	
	Ave.	. 253	.043	. 808	.800	. 963	.963	.745	.050	

Table 2.	Comparison of starter activity and phage inhibition in various
	media including PIM (16 hr incubation at 29 C)

		I	a		oped acio I ^b	III III		IVd		
Culture	Trial	Phage free	Phage added	Phage free	0	Phage free	0	Phage free	Phage added	
SK-11	1	. 18	.04	. 61	. 59	.62	. 63	.70	. 12	
	2	.21	. 08	. 63	. 59	. 65	. 63	.71	.14	
	3	. 20	. 08	. 60	. 58	. 62	. 60	. 68	.14	
	Ave.	. 197	.067	.613	. 587	, 630	.620	. 697	.133	
KH	1	. 17	. 08	.71	.70	. 68	. 68	. 65	, 08	
	2	.23	. 03	.70	. 68	.71	.70	. 67	.15	
	3	.18	. 06	.68	. 66	.72	.70	. 63	. 15	
	Ave.	. 193	. 057	. 697	. 680	. 703	. 693	. 650	. 127	
R- 1	1	. 20	. 05	. 74	.71	.76	.73	.62	.10	
	2	. 20	. 07	.76	.75	. 79	.76	.66	.14	
	3	.21	.05	.76	.74	. 78	.74	.71	. 08	
	Ave.	. 203	. 057	. 753	. 733	. 777	.743	. 663	.107	
C_2	1	. 20	. 06	.76	.73	. 74	.76	.70	.08	
	2	» 2 4	. 06	. 82	.78	. 79	. 79	.70	. 08	
	3	. 23	.04	.82	.82	. 82	.81	.74	. 08	
	Ave.	. 223	.053	.800	. 777	. 783	. 787	.713	. 080	

Table 3.	Comparison of starter activity and phage inhibition in various media
	PIM-1 (16 hr incubation at 29 C)

^aWhey ^bPWM ^cPIM ^dNDM ePIM-1

were suitable as culture media. The latter was the best medium for growth of phage free SK-11. This was probably due to some inhibitory substances or lack of a growth factor in the other two media for this particular strain. Three of the cultures grew better in PWM and PIM than in NDM. Yeast and pancreas extracts provide additional nutrients and stimulants for lactic culture growth. In all cases, PIM was superior to PWM. Two batches of "Marstar" PIM were evaluated. One lot (unavailable No) was received in May, 1967 (PIM-1). The other lot (No. 0173029) was received in October, 1969 (PIM). Different degrees of stimulation were observed for the two lots (Tables 2 and 3). PWM was as stimulatory as PIM-1. PIM was found to be more stimulatory than either PIM-1 or PWM.

The manufacturer was contacted. He explained that a new formulation was involved in recent batches of "Marstar." He could not reveal the nature of the change but indicated that it produced a higher initial TA and stimulated culture growth and acid production (Christensen, personal communication).¹

The differences between PWM and PIM might be due to physical state (39, 40) and nutrient contents of the media. More work is needed to establish the reasons for these observations.

Tests using the NDM medium indicated no appreciable acid development during the incubation period after inoculation with culture and homologous phage. Therefore, the procedure for evaluating culture and phage activity was believed to be satisfactory.

¹D. R. Christensen, Technical Director, Marschall Dairy Laboratory, Inc., Madison, Wisconsin. Personal communication, 1969.

Effect of various media on lactic starters for Cheddar and Cottage cheese making

A lactic culture must actively produce acid at a controllable rate following inoculation into the cheese milk. The possible use of PWM bulk culture in commercial cheese factories was first screened by the method of Horrall and Elliker (30).

Lactic starters were prepared in PWM, PIM and reconstituted NDM, by heating at 88 to 90 C min, cooling, inoculating and incubating at 21 C for 16 hr to 18 hr. They were then inoculated (0.3 ml/10 ml of 10 percent NDM) into 37.7 C substrate, incubated 3.5 hr and titrated along with 5 ml rinse water to the phenolphthalien end point using 0.1 N NaOH.

All lactic starters produced at TA over 0.3 percent and therefore were interpreted as satisfactory for use in Cheddar and Cottage cheese (Table 4). Three out of five strains were very active in both PIM and PWM and produced TA values over 0.4 percent. C_2 produced a high of 0.62 percent. These high values confirm the suggestion that smaller bulk inocula are required with PIM type media. Only one strain was found inactive in reconstituted NDM medium. However, satisfactory cheese timing would be possible with all but the slow KH. PIM was superior to the other cultures but PWM adequately supported good starter growth. Strain SK-11 seemed to be an exception in that it grew best in NDM.

		Ti		
Culture	Trial	I ^a	tratable acidity (%) II ^b	III ^e
SK-11	1	.31	. 35	. 35
	2	. 30	. 32	. 38
	3	. 32	. 34	. 38
	4	. 32	. 36	. 37
	Ave.	. 313	. 343	. 37
KH	1	. 32	. 36	. 28
	2	. 34	. 38	. 29
3 4 Ave.	3	. 36	. 42	.34
	4	. 35	. 38	.31
	Ave.	. 343	. 385	. 30
R-1	1	. 39	.41	. 36
2 3	2	. 44	.45	.35
	3	. 49	. 55	.45
	4	. 44	. 50	.40
	Ave.	. 440	. 478	. 39(
C_2	1	. 46	. 50	. 37
	2	. 48	. 52	. 45
	3	. 55	. 62	. 49
	4	. 52	. 62	. 48
	Ave.	. 503	. 565	. 448

Table 4. Activity test of starters (titrated after 3.5 hr incubation at 37.7 C)

Culture		Γ	76)	
	Trial	Ia	$\Pi_{\mathbf{p}}$	IIIc
C.	1	. 43	. 45	. 38
6	2	. 40	. 43	. 36
	3	. 42	, 52	.40
	4	. 48	. 54	. 38
	Ave.	. 433	. 485	. 380

Table 4. Continued

^a _{PWM} ^b _{PIM} ^c Reconstituted NDM

Bacterial populations in various media

Plate counts were conducted to enumerate starter populations in the three media. KH and C_2 strains were selected representing a slow and a fast strain (Table 5). The data indicate growth variation in the three media with the highest population in PIM. Both strains did grow reasonably well in PWM but C_2 was more stimulated.

PWM for Cheddar cheese manufacture

Four experimental vats of Cheddar cheese were manufactured using a modified conventional procedure. Commerical mixed freeze dried cultures from D. P. L. Culture Service, were used to prepare bulk starter in PWM and normal whole milk. Both were incubated at room temperature (approximately 25 C) for 12 hr. Behavior of PWM was closely compared with normal

Organism			Plate count x $10^8/ml$					
	Trial	ľa	IIp	III ^c				
КН	1	48	70	43				
	2	52	78	45				
	Ave.	50	74	44				
с ₂	1	85	121	64				
2	2	94	118	72				
	Ave.	90	120	68				

Table 5.	Population achieved by lactic streptococci in various media follow-	
	ing 18 hr incubation at 21 C	

^a PWM ^bPIM ^cNDM

whole milk starter during cheese making. The finished products were evaluated in a cheese grading class, Food Science and Industries Department, USU.

The cheese making record (Table 6), shows that the acid production in the PWM vat (vats II and IV) was faster from cutting through milling. Higher cooking temperature (104 F) was employed in vat II in an attempt to retard acid development. These results suggest that smaller incoula are also possible with **P**WM. All cheeses were of good quality (Table 7).

	Vat I ^a					Vat II ^b			
Operation	Time ^c	Temp. (F)	pH	Acid (%)	Time ^C	Temp. (F)	pН	Acid (%)	Comments
Pasteurization	30 min	145		. 17	30 min	145		. 17	Good milk with
Added starter	0:00	86			0:00	86		9	$\frac{3}{9} \cdot 16^{\%} (\frac{12}{2})$
Added color	0:01	86			0:01	86			13.5 ml.
Added rennet	0:03	88			0:03	88			40.5 ml single
Coagulation	0:19	88			0:17	88			strength
Cutting	0:35	88		.10	0:32	88		.13	1/4" knives
Steam on	0:50	88			0:50	88			Slowly by sche⊢ dule
Steam off	1:20	102		.11	1:20	102		.15	Slow agitation
Start dripping	2:20	102	6.25	5.12	2:20	104	6.20		Vat II raised temp to check acid development
End dripping	2:35	102	6.15	5.14	2:35	104	6.12	.19	ac veropment
Pack	2:50	100		.17	2:50	101		. 23	Cut into 8" wide slab
Pile two high	3:35	96		.24	3:35	96		.30	
Pile three high	4:05	93		.30	4:05	93		.36	
Mill	5:10	91	5.41	.45	5:05	91	5,39	. 47	Wash with
Salt	5:20				5:15				91 F water after milling 1, 24 lbs was used
2015 2019 2019 2019 2019 2016 2016 2019 2016 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2019		Vat	III ^d		5 (MBS ANT HEE) ALL THE REA ALL 1 (MBS HEE) THE THE LAD THE HEAT	Va	t IV ^e		NO MEN
Pasteurization	30 min	145		. 17	30min	145		.17	Good milk with 3.5% fat.
Added starter	0:00	88			0:00	87			9 lbs (2%)
Added color	0:00	88			0:00	87			13.5 ml
Added rennet	0:02	88			0:03	88			40.5 ml single strength.
Coagulation	0:15	88			0:15	88			
Cutting	0:30			.11	0:32	88		. 14	1/4" knives.

Table 6. Record of manufacture of Cheddar cheese

Table 6. Continued

Operation	Vat III ^d			Vat IV ^e					
	Time	Temp. (F)	pН	Acid (%)	Time	Temp. (F)	рН Ас (%		Comments
Steam on	0:45	88			0:45	88			Slowly by schedule
Steam off	1:15	102		.12	1:15	102			Slow agitation
Start dipping	2:15	102		.14	2:15	102	6.18,1	7	
End dipping	2:30	102			2:32	102			
Pack	2:45	101	6.12	. 20	2:45	101	. 2	3	Cut into 8'' wide slab.
Pile two high	3:10	96		. 25	3:10	97			
Mill	5:05		5.41	.45	4:50		5.39.4	8	Wash with 90 F water after mill.
Salt	5:10				5.00				1.24 lbs was used.

^aUsed whole milk starter pH 4.55, TA 0.83% ^bUsed PWM starter pH 4.50, TA 1,82%, ^cTime schedules were adjusted to 0:00 at start. ^dUsed whole milk starter pH 4.55, TA 0.84%. ^eUsed PWM starter pH 4.55, TA 1.80%.

Constitution of the second	Name Transmission and Transmission and Basel New York and the company of the			
	Vat I ^a	Vat II ^b	Vat III ^C	Vat IV ^d
H ₂ O (%)	37.94	37.36	37.84	37.22
$p\bar{H}$	5.10	5.12	5.08	5.14
H ₂ O (%) pH Fat ^e	50.1	50.9	50.7	50.8
Texture	slight open	slight open	slight open	good
Body	good	slight short	slight curdy	slight curdy
Flavor	good	good	slight acid	good
Grade	A	A	Ā	A

Table 7. Composition and grading of finished products

^aCheese was made using whole milk starter, graded after one month ^bCheese was made using PWM, graded after one month.

^CCheese was made using whole milk starter, graded after two weeks.

dCheese was made using PWM, graded after two weeks.

^eFat in dry matter,

Costs of starter media

Lagrange and Reinbold (37) reported in a 1968 study of Iowa Cheddar cheese plants that starter costs averaged 1.12 percent of cheese sales income excluding any costs for culture failure. They indicated that culture media constituted about 70 percent of the daily starter cost. Labor contributed another 20 percent, and starter rooms, equipment, seed cultures and other necessary materials made up the balance. These figures reveal the economic importance of culture media to the dairy industry.

Ingredient costs for PWM preparation were computed based upon current prices (Table 8). All the phosphate salts reported by Zottola and Marth (63) are listed. The total ingredients of the most satisfactory blend from an inhibitory standpoint would cost \$1.08 (Table 9).

If an operator were to use his own liquid whey, as the goal of this project suggests, the cost would be reduced to \$0.73/cwt. The latter figure could range from \$0.66 to 0.73/cwt if the least and most expensive blends respectively were prepared.

Commerical PIM was listed from \$0.38 to 0.41/lb in March, 1968. The cost was dependent upon the zonal location of the customer and volume purchased. More recent costs were not available but approximately one to two cents/lb increase would be expected. If the 1968 data is used, the cost for PIM would range from \$4.48 to 4.84/cwt of starter.

Pretested instant NDM is used in larger volume than PIM. Though this provides no protection against phage attack, it is pretested to assure

Ingredient	Volume price quantity	Cost/lb	
	lb	\$	
Yeast extract	150	1,250	
Ardamine Y es ^a	100	1.030	
Standard light ^b	2,000	0.050	
Whey powder	2,000	0.166	
NaH_2PO_4	2,000	0.160	
$Na_{2}HPO_{4}$	2,000	0.172	
NH ₄ H ₂ PO ₄	2,000	0.172	
(NH ₄) ₂ HPO ₄	2,000	0.172	
кн ₂ ро ₄	2,000	0.238	
К ₂ НРО ₄	2,000	0.308	

Table 8. Price of PWM ingredients in January, 1970

^aProduct of Yeast Products Inc., Paterson, New Jersey. ^bProduct of the Nestle Company, Inc., White Plains, New York.

Ingredient	Wt.	Cost
Yeast extract	lb. 0.32	\$ 0.40
Na ₂ HPO ₄	1.00	0.16
$\mathrm{NH}_4\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{PO}_4$	1.00	0.17
Whey powder	7.00	0.35
Total	9.32	1.08

Table 9. The cost of ingredients of the PWM

relative freedom from inhibitory substances. Current prices range from \$0.28 to 0.30/lb. Ingredients for a ten percent medium would therefore cost between \$2.80 and \$3.00/cwt.

Marketing costs and profit are difficult to estimate in commerical PIM, however, one might assume that approximately 9.52 percent (11.8 - 0.32 stimulant and - 2.0 phosphate - 9.52 milk, whey solids) milk solids is in reconstituted PIM at 0.225/1b (EDW at 0.15 and NDM at 0.30/1b in a 1:1 mixture). This would cost 9.52 x 0.225 = 2.142/cwt for milk solids alone.

An operator making starter utilizing his plant whey by-product and PWM would thus save approximately \$2.142 on ingredients, less the receipts he may receive from sale of whey solids. Cheese yield from PIM, however, is superior to PWM because of the casein content. Casein will become a part of the cheese thus increasing yield and return. If PIM is used below the one percent normally used in the vat, the yield will be reduced accordingly. The relative merits of PIM and PWM thus vary with usage levels and composition as well as cost.

If milk is theoretically standardized to equal fat content (i.e., 3.5 percent) after adding one percent starter, the effect of the three media on yield can be estimated. The yield of 37 percent moisture cheese from 100 lb of milk can be calculated using the formula of Van Slyke and Price (56):

(a) Yield of cheese using one percent PWM starter: Assume that milk contains 2.5 percent casein and PWM contains no casein. Though some protein would find its way into cheese as denatured whey protein, this is not included in the calculations. $\frac{(0.93 \times 3.5 + 2.5 - 0.1) 1.09}{1.00 - 0.37} = 9.78 \text{ lb/cwt} \text{ (cheese yield)}$

(b) Yield of cheese using one percent PIM starter: Assume that NDM is in PIM at 9.52/2 = 4.76 percent, that NDM contains 36 percent protein and 82 percent of this protein is casein.

4.65 percent x 36 percent x 82 percent = 1.40 percent (casein is reconstituted PIM). One pound of a 1.40 percent casein solution would yield 0.014 lb casein. Total casein content in milk would be $2.5 \pm 0.014 - 2.514$ (percent).

 $\frac{(0.93 \times 3.5 + 2.514 - 0.1) 1.09}{1.00 - 0.37} = 9.81 \text{ lb/cwt} \text{ (cheese yield)}$

(c) Yield of cheese using one percent NDM starter: Assume that NDM contains 36 percent protein and 82 percent of this protein is casein.

10 percent x 82 percent = 2.95 percent (casein in 10 percent reconstituted NDM). One pound of 2.95 percent casein solution would yield 0.0295 lb casein. Total casein content in milk then would be $2.5 \pm 0.0295 = 2.5295$ (percent).

 $\frac{(0.93 \times 3.5 + 2.5295 - 0.1) 1.09}{1.00 - 0.37} = 9.83 \text{ lb/cwt} \text{ (cheese yield)}$

The current cheese price is \$0.60/lb. Increased cheese yield would reduce media cost. In this example calculation, PIM increases the yield 0.03 lb cheese/lb culture over PWM. NDM increases the yield 0.05 lb cheese/lb culture over PWM. These figures will return \$1.80/cwt culture to the PIM user and \$3.00/cwt culture to the NDM user. The net cost for the media, then, could be calculated (Table 10). It is assumed that packaging, profit, shipping etc., would make PWM cost \$1.00/cwt culture.

	Type of media			
	PIM	NDM	PWM	
Initial cost	4,84	3.00	1.00	
Income from cheese				
yield increase	1.80	3.00	?	
Net cost	3.04	0.00	1,00	

Table 10. Net cost for three culture media considering cheese yield increases

If PIM produced a yield equivalent to NDM, the net cost would be reduced to \$1.84 (4.84 - 3.00). The net cost for phage protection/lb of cheese would be: PIM: High--\$3.04 (net cost)/981 (cheese yield/cwt culture) = 0.310¢,

LOW--\$1.84 (net cost)/983 (cheese yield/cwt culture) = 0.187. PWM: \$1.00 (net cost)/978 (cheese yield/cwt culture) = 0.120C PWM would cost less than PIM, even if the latter produced the same increase in cheese yield as NDM.

NDM is the most profitable medium of the three provided no phage problems develop. A culture service which provides effective culture rotation (for example that available through D. P. L.) (p. 16 of this thesis for address) would be necessary to assure this protection. The cost of such service would vary with the cheese plant volume. It would generally be lower than the cost of PIM or PWM additions. For example, if a plant produced 200,000 lb cheese/ month or 10,000 lb/day for 20 days, it would cost only 0.05¢/lb even if the service charge were \$100/month.

Effect of variation of yeast concentration on starter activity

The inconsistent results noted on two lots of PIM (page 25 of this thesis) prompted an attempt to provide increased stimulation to PWM. It was hoped this might provide a product as stimulatory as PIM. Two sets of PWM were prepared using 0.32 percent and 0.50 percent yeast extract. Both 16 to 18 hr incubation at 21 C and 16 hr incubation at 29 C were evaluated. The addition of 0.50 percent yeast extract provided slightly more stimulation than 0.32 percent in most cultures but the magnitude of the increase was too low to be significant. The average TA increase of PIM over PIM-1 was 0.11. My results suggest that additional factors are required to provide greater stimuli.

CONCLUSIONS

1. Whey medium has been improved by phosphate treatment and yeast extract addition.

2. The ability of phosphate treated whey medium (PWM) to stimulate the growth of lactic streptococci and inhibit phage proliferation has been demonstrated.

3. Activity of lactic cultures in PWM starter improved as determined by TA increase, activity test and bacterial population count.

4. A good quality commerical Cheddar cheese can be made using PWM starter.

5. Costs of starter media can be reduced if expensive starter media are replaced by PWM.

6. Further research is required to provide a PWM as stimulatory as the most recent PIM product.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adams, M. H. 1959. Bacteriophages. Interscience Publishers, New York. 592 p.
- Anderson, A. W., R. B. Parker, and P. R. Elliker. 1955. The nutritional requirements of lactic streptococci isolated from starter cultures. III. Variation in growth promoting properties of fresh whole milks. J. Dairy Sci. 38:1083.
- 3. Anderson, E. B., and L. J. Meanwell. 1944. The problem of bacteriophage in cheese making. J. Dairy Res. 13:58.
- 4. Babel, F. J. 1946. Factors influencing acid production by cheese cultures. II. Influence of bacteriophage on acid production in the manufacture of Cheddar and Cottage cheese. J. Dairy Sci. 29:597.
- 5. Babel, F. J. 1955. Slow acid production by lactic cultures. J. Dairy Sci. 38:705.
- 6. Babel, F. J. 1958. New developments in the propagation of lactic cultures; culture media and bacteriophage inhibition. J. Dairy Sci. 41:697.
- Bennett, F. W., and F. E. Nelson. 1954. Action of aerosols of certain viricidal agents on lactic streptococcus bacteriophage. J. Dairy Sci. 37:840.
- Cherry, W. B., and D. W. Watson. 1949a. The <u>Streptococcus lactis</u> host-virus system. I. Factors influencing quantitative measurement of the virus. J. Bacteriol. 58:601.
- 9. Cherry, W. B., and D. W. Watson. 1949b. The <u>Streptococcus lactis</u> host virus system. II. Characteristics of virus growth and the effect of electrolytes on virus adsorption. J. Bacteriol. 58:611.
- 10. Clark, W. A. 1962. Comparison of several methods for preserving bacteriophage. Appl. Microbiol. 10:466.
- 11. Collins, E. B. 1961. Domination among strains of lactic streptococci with attention to antibiotic production. Appl. Microbiol. 9:200.

- 12. Collins, E. B. 1962a. Behavior and use of lactic streptococci and their bacteriophages. J. Dairy Sci. 45:552.
- Collins, E. B. 1962b. Culture identity and selection. J. Dairy Sci. 45:1263.
- 14. Collins, E. B., F. E. Nelson, and C. E. Parmellee. 1950. The relation of calcium and other constituents of a defined medium to proliferation of lactic streptococcus bacteriophage. J. Bacteriol. 60:533.
- Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization, Division of Dairy Research. 1967. Deep frozen starter concentrate, p 8-9. In Report 1967. Melbourne, Australia.
- Dahiya, R. S., and M. L. Speck. 1964. Growth of streptococcus starter cultures in milk fortified with nucleic acid derivatives. J. Dairy Sci. 47:374.
- 17. Davis, J. G. 1965. Cheese. Vol. I. Basic technology. American Elsevier Publishing Company, Inc., New York. 463 p.
- Elliker, P. R. 1951. The problem of bacteriophage in the dairy industry. J. of Milk and Food Technol. 14:13.
- Elliker, P. R., A. W. Anderson, and G. Hannesson. 1956. An agar culture medium for lactic acid streptococci and lactobacilli. J. Dairy Sci. 39:1611.
- Foster, E. M., F. E. Nelson, M. L. Speck, R. N. Doetsch, and J. C. Olson, Jr. 1964. Dairy Microbiology. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey. 492 p.
- Frazier, W. C., E. H. March, and R. H. Deibel. 1968. Laboratory Manual for Food Microbiology. 4th ed., Burgess Publishing Co., Minneapolis, Minn. 122 p.
- Garvie, E. I., and L. A. Mabbitt. 1956. Acid production in milk by starter cultures -- The effect of peptone and other stimulatory substances. J. Dairy Res. 23:305.
- 23. Gilliland, S. E., and M. L. Speck. 1968. D-Leucine as an auto-inhibitor of lactic streptococci. J. Dairy Sci. 51:1573.

- Greene, G. I., and F. J. Babel. 1948. Effect of ultraviolet irradiation on bacteriophage active against <u>Streptococcus</u> <u>lactis</u>. J. Dairy Sci. 31:509.
- 25. Hargrove, R. E. 1959. A simple method for eliminating and controlling bacteriophage in lactic starters. J. Dairy Sci. 42:906.
- 26. Hargrove, R. E., E. F. McDonough, and R. P. Tittsler. 1961. Phosphate heat treatment of milk to prevent bacteriophage proligeration in lactic cultures. J. Dairy Sci. 44:1799.
- Henning, D. R., C. H. Black, W. E. Sandine, and P. R. Elliker. 1968. Host-range studies of lactic streptococcal bacteriophages. J. Dairy Sci. 51:16.
- Henning, D. R., D. Kienle, W. E. Sandine, and P. R. Elliker. 1964. Factors affecting isolation and survival of bacteriophages for lactic streptococci. J. Dairy Sci. 47:977.
- Henning, D. R., W. E. Sandine, P. R. Elliker, and H. A. Hays. 1965. Studies with a bacteriophage inhibitory medium. I. Inhibition of phage and growth of single strain lactic streptococci and leuconostoc. J. of Milk and Food Technol. 28:273.
- 30. Horrall, B. E., and P. R. Elliker. 1947. An activity test for Cheddar and Cottage cheese starters. J. Dairy Sci. 30:523.
- 31. Hunter, G. J. E. 1943. Bacteriophages for <u>Streptococcus cremoris</u> phage development at various temperatures. J. Dairy Res. 13:136.
- Hunter, G. J. E., and H. R. Whitehead. 1940. The action of chemical disinfectants on bacteriophages for the lactic streptococci. J. Dairy Res. 11:62.
- 33. Jenness, R., and S. Patton. 1959. Principles of Dairy Chemistry. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York. 446 p.
- Kadis, V. W., and F. J. Babel. 1962. Effect of addition of phosphates to milk on development of bacteriophages and growth of lactic culture. J. Dairy Sci. 45:432.
- 35. Kennedy, H. E., and M. L. Speck. 1955. Studies on corn steep liquor in the nutrition of certain lactic acid bacteria. J. Dairy Sci. 38:208.

- 36. Koburger, J. A., M. L. Speck, and L. W. Aurand. 1963. Identification of growth stimulant for Streptococcus lactis. J. Bacteriol. 85:1051.
- 37. Lagrange, W. S., and G. W. Reinbold. 1968. Starter culture costs in Iowa Cheddar cheese plants. J. Dairy Sci. 51:1985.
- The Marstar System. Marschall Dairy Laboratory Inc., Madison, Wisconsin. 18 p.
- Marth, E. H. 1962. Certain aspects of starter culture metabolism. J. Dairy Sci. 45:1271.
- Maxcy, R. B., and R. C. Chandan. 1962. Inhibitory effects of fatty acids and other surface-active compounds on <u>streptococcus</u> <u>lactis</u>. J. Dairy Sci. 45:654.
- 41. Milk Industry Foundation. 1964. Laboratory manual. Methods of analysis of milk and its products. Washington, D. C. 821 p.
- 42. Moseley, W. K., and R. L. Winslow. 1959. A study of potential causes of culture failure in cheese factories. J. Dairy Sci. 42:906.
- Overcast, W. W., F. E. Nelson, and C. E. Parmelee. 1951. Influence of pH on proliferation of lactic streptococcus bacteriophage. J. Bacteriol. 61:87.
- Parmelee, C. E., P. H. Carr, and F. E. Nelson. 1949. Electron microscope studies of bacteriophage active against <u>Streptococcus</u> <u>lactis</u>. J. Bacteriol. 57:391.
- 45. Potter, N. N., and F. E. Nelson. 1952. Effects of calcium on proliferation of lactic streptococcus bacteriophage. II. Studies of optimum concentrations on a partially defined medium. J. Bacteriol. 64:113.
- Potter, N. N., and F. E. Nelson. 1953. Role of calcium and related ions in proliferation of lactic streptococcus phage. J. Bacteriol. 66:508.
- 47. Price, W. V., and H. E. Calbert. 1953. Cheddar cheese from pasteurized milk. Agr. Exp. Sta. Bulletin 464. Univ. of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin. 16 p.
- 48. Reiter, B., and A. Miller-Madsen. 1963. Review of the progress of dairy science. J. Dairy Res. 30:419.

- 49. Roundy, Z. D. 1964. Whey starter vs milk starter--advantages and disadvantages. Marschall Dairy Laboratory Inc., Madison, Wisconsin. 8 p.
- 50. Sellars, R. L. 1967. Bacterial starter cultures. p. 34-75. In H. J. Pepper, Microbial Technology. Reinhold. New York.
- 51. Shew, D. I. 1949. Effect on calcium of the development of streptococcal bacteriophages. Nature 164:492.
- 52. Speck, M. L. 1962. Starter culture growth and action in milk. J. Dairy Sci. 45:1281.
- 53. Speck, M. L., J. K. McAnelly, and J. D. Wilbur. 1958. Varability in response of lactic streptococci to stimulants in extracts of pancreas, liver, and yeast. J. Dairy Sci. 41:502.
- 54. USDA. 1969. Production of manufactured dairy products. Statistical bulletin No. 136.
- 55. USPHS. 1967. Standard methods for examination of dairy products. 12th ed. American Public Health Association, Inc., New York. 304 p.
- 56. Van Slyke, L. L., and W. V. Price. 1938. Cheese. Orange Judd Publishing Company, Inc., New York. 358 p.
- 57. Vedamuthu, E. R., and G. W. Reinbold. 1967. Starter cultures for Cheddar cheese. J. Milk and Food Technol. 30:247.
- 58. Whitehead, H. R., and G. J. E. Hunter. 1937. Observations on the activity of bacteriophages in the group of lactic streptococci. J. Path. and Bacteriol. 44:337.
- 59. Whitehead, H. R., and G. J. E. Hunter. 1939. Starter cultures for cheese manufacture--maintenance of acid producing activity in cultures of lactic streptococci. J. Dairy Res. 10:120.
- 60. Whitehead, H. R., and G. J. E. Hunter. 1941. Starter cultures for cheese manufacture--further attempts to eliminate failures due to bacteriophage. J. Dairy Res. 12:63.
- 61. Wix, P., and M. Woodbine. 1958a. The disposal and utilization of whey-a review. Part I. Dairy Sci. Abstr. 20:537.

- 62. Wix, P., and M. Woodbine. 1958b. The disposal and utilization of whey-a review. Part II. Dairy Sci. Abstr. 20:621.
- Zottola, E. A., and E. H. Marth. 1966. Dry blended phosphate-treated milk media for inhibition of bacteriophages active against lactic streptococci. J. Dairy Sci. 49:1343.

